Docket Number 72685

In the

SUPREME COURT

Electronically Filed Jan 09 2018 09:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

For the

STATE OF NEVADA

ELIZABETH HOWARD

Appellant,

V.

SHAUGHNAN L. HUGHES

Respondent.

Appeal from a Decision of the Tenth Judicial District of the State of Nevada, Shaughnan L. Hughes v. Elizabeth Howard, Court Case No. 15DC-10-0876

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Charles R. Kozak, Esq. Nevada State Bar # 11179 3100 Mill Street, Suite 115 Reno, Nevada 89502 (775) 322-1239 chuck@kozaklawfirm.com Attorney for the Appellants

NRAP 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Elizabeth Howard submits the following NRAP 28(A)(4) statement of jurisdiction. The Tenth Judicial District of the State of Nevada Court, Washoe County, (the "Trial Court") had personal jurisdiction over this action against Plaintiff JACC pursuant to NRS 17.76. Elizabeth Howard, an individual who, at all material times, including at the time of the incidents set forth in their Complaint, resided in Fallon, Nevada. Appellee Shaughnan Hughes is and was, at all material times, an adult resident of Fallon, Nevada.

The Trial Court entered final judgment on February 27, 2017 its Order After February 6, 2017 Hearing. (See AA0299-AA0312 @ Appellants' Appendix Volume 3). The Trial Court's judgment constitutes a final judgment as to all issues and parties. NRAP 3A(b)(1). This appeal is timely because the Howard filed her Notice of Appeal within 30 days of service of notice of entry of the judgment/order. (See AA0313-AA0329 @ Appellants' Appendix Volume 3). NRAP 4(a)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(14) as this case raises "as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, or an issue upon which there is an inconsistency in the published decisions of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court or a conflict between the decisions of the two courts.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This Court's precedent in Langevin v. York, 111 Nev. 1481, 1485, 907 P.2d 981, 984 (1995) controls the issue at hand. Langevin relies chiefly on Sack v.

Tomlin, 110 Nev. 204, 210, 871 P.2d 298, 303 (1994)), but Langevin develops the Sack doctrine and modified an initial presumption propounded therein. This appeal asks whether, in this case, the Trial Court properly stated the doctrine as modified in Langevin and properly applied the precedent. Further this appeal asks this Court to clarify and harmonize Langevin and Sack. The facts in the present case are similar to the precedent, and this case is an optimal vehicle to clarify the law.

Second, this appeal asks whether plaintiff Shaughnan Hughes proved sufficient evidence. As plaintiff, Hughes bears the burden of proving his complaint's allegations. In <u>Langevin</u>, a partition action, the Court awarded real property to the unmarried joint tenant who paid entire purchase. In this case, also a partition action, appellant paid 100% of the purchase price, and the Trial Court found no clear record of the parties' respective contributions. Nonetheless, the Trial Court awarded Hughes a one-half interest. Howard appeals the resulting windfall.

¹ Langevin v. York, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 (1995)

² Shaughnan Hughes v. Elizabeth Howard, Order After February 6, 2017 Hearing, Case No. 15-10DC-0876 (10th Judicial District Court, Feb. 27, 2017) (hereinafter "Order"), at AA 0301:4-5 and AA0308:10-17 @ Appellant's Appendix Volume 3.

III. REVIEWABILITY AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the district court's interpretation of caselaw and statutory language de novo.³ An error of law is not granted a differential standard. This Court should review *de novo* whether the lower court properly interpreted Langevin, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 and Sack, 110 Nev. 204, 871 P.2d 298.

This appeal also asks this Court to review the Trial Court's findings for abuse of discretion. A clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence constitutes abuse of discretion.⁴ Herein, the Trial Court found that Elizabeth Howard, in addition to paying 100% of the purchase price of the property, also "contributed in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000)." (See AA0301:4-5 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3). Further the Trial Court found that Shaughnan L. Hughes approximately Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000) with an additional Five Thousand dollars being gifted to Shaughnan L. Hughes for improvements to

³ LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 10, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (2015), reh'g denied (May 29, 2015), reconsideration en banc denied (July 6, 2015), Liu v. Christopher Homes, LLC, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 17, 321 P.3d 875, 877 (2014) (reviewing de novo the meaning and application of caselaw); Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Haley, 126 Nev. 211, 214, 234 P.3d 922, 924 (2010) (reviewing de novo issues of statutory construction).

⁴ <u>Aktiengesellschaft v. Roth</u>, 127 Nev. 122, 133, 252 P.3d 649, 657 (2011) (citing <u>Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp.</u>, 496 U.S. 384, 405, 110 S.Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d 359 (1990)).

the property's garage (AA0301:6-9 and AA0301:22-24 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3). The Trial Court found that neither party presented detailed records to confirm that either party presented "evidence regarding payment of other regular expenses for the property." Notwithstanding this lack of evidence, the Trial Court awarded plaintiff Hughes a 50% share of the real property in question.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant Elizabeth Howard purchased real property at 11633 Fulkerson Road in Fallon, Nevada. Appellee Shaughnan Hughes cohabitated at the property. Immediately after Howard's purchase, Mr. Hughes demanded that Ms. Howard quitclaim the property to them together as joint tenants. She complied and quit a one-half interest in the property to Hughes just five (5) days after purchasing the property. Hughes did not contribute to the purchase of the property at the time of purchase nor in the interim 5-day period. His half share came free. While residents at the property, the parties shared expenses but did not maintain comprehensive receipts.

On July 27, 2015, Hughes filed the Complaint pursuant to Nevada Revised Statues 39.010 for partition of his alleged interest in the real property. At trial,

⁵ Shaughnan Hughes v. Elizabeth Howard, Order After February 6, 2017 Hearing, Case No. 15-10DC-0876 (10th Judicial District Court, Feb. 27, 2017) (hereinafter "Order"), at AA0301:13-14 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3.

Hughes failed to present substantive evidence of his contributions. The Trial Court concluded "neither party presented clear testimony or other evidence regarding their respective interests" and "neither party maintained sufficiently detailed records to confirm their exact contributions." Likewise, "[n]either party presented evidence regarding the payment of other regular expenses for the property. Notably, the parties have provided several receipts for their purchases, but they have limited documentation regarding the flow of money between themselves and between them and their parents." Hughes' documented expenses totaled no more than \$2,367.16 -- roughly 6% of the of \$225,000.00 appraised value of the home. The Trial Court also found "Ms. Howard contributed in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) to the improvements" of the real property in question ("Fulkerson Property").8 Mr. Hughes' contributions appear to be chiefly labor in the construction of an accessory dwelling, but the Trial Court was unable to determine whether the accessory building added to the property's value.9

⁶ Shaughnan Hughes v. Elizabeth Howard, Order After February 6, 2017 Hearing, Case No. 15-10DC-0876 (10th Judicial District Court, Feb. 27, 2017) (hereinafter "Order"), at p. AA0308:15-19 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3.

⁷ Id. at AA0301:10-17@ Appellants Appendix Volume 3.

⁸ Id. at AA0301:4-5 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3.

⁹ *Id.* at AA309:1-7@ Appellants Appendix Volume 3. Further, "Hughes does not dispute that he did not contribute financially to the dwelling." *Id.* at fn. 30 (AA0309:18:20 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3.

Despite Mr. Hughes' *de minimis* contribution, the Trial Court awarded him a one-half (50%) interest in property.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court improperly stated the law and incorrectly applied precedent in Langevin, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981. Under Langevin, courts presume that unmarried cohabitants intend to share ownership of real property in proportion to the amount each contributed to the purchase price. ¹⁰ Instead of this, the Trial Court applied earlier caselaw from Sack, 110 Nev. 204, 871 P.2d 298.

Hughes contributed nothing to the purchase price of the property. He did not keep comprehensive receipts, and the Trial Court did not find substantive evidence of his contributions to the improvements to the real property. Thus, Plaintiff Hughes failed to prove facts sufficient to change the initial presumption.

Nonetheless, despite this lack of evidence, the Trial Court awarded Hughes a one-half interest in the property. (See AA0311:1-3 @ Appellants Appendix 3).

Howard paid 100% of the purchase price, and the Trial Court found insufficient evidence of Plaintiff Hughes' contributions. Thus, the property should remain 100% Howard's.

¹⁰ Langevin, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 (1995).

VI. ARGUMENT

a. District Court Improperly Stated and Applied the <u>Langevin</u> Presumption and Standard

In Sack, 110 Nev. 204, 871 P.2d 298 (1994) and Langevin, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 (1995), this Court considered the partition of real property between unmarried, cohabitating joint tenants and tenants in common. Sack held that fractional shares held by tenants in common are presumed equal unless circumstances indicate otherwise. The presumption can be rebutted where tenants in common are not related, show no donative intent, and contribute unequally to the purchase price. In that situation, proceeds upon sale are to be divided in proportion to amount contributed to the purchase price. Then, any claims that one party may have against the other (for unequal contributions during ownership) are accredited.

In <u>Langevin</u>, the cohabitants were tenants in common rather than joint tenants, but the Court found the distinction inconsequential and considered <u>Sack</u> controlling. Indeed, <u>Sack</u> considered the joint tenants in <u>Sack</u> to be "more analogous to those instances where cotenants unequally contribute to the purchase price of real property" because the unmarried parties lived together without pretense of marriage, and held no community property. ¹² <u>Langevin</u> concluded that

¹¹Sack v. Tomlin, 110 Nev. 204, 213, 871 P.2d 298, 304 (1994)

¹² <u>Id</u>, 110 Nev. at 210, 871 P.2d at 303.

unmarried cohabitants intend to share ownership of real property in proportion to the amount each contributed to the purchase price. ¹³ Importantly, the Court made no mention of donative intent. <u>Sack</u> considered donative intent, but <u>Langevin</u> removed this consideration from the equation. <u>Langevin</u> awarded real property to plaintiff outright because he purchased the two properties without any contribution from defendant.

i. Distinction between <u>Sack</u> and <u>Langevin</u>

Langevin subtly developed the Sack doctrine. Langevin held that initial presumption is: "where cotenants unequally share in the purchase price of property, the cotenants intended to share in proportion to the amount contributed to the purchase price." Previously, Sack held that fractional shares held by tenants in common are presumed equal, and that initial presumption can be rebutted. Langevin takes the facts which Sack found sufficient to rebut the initial presumption, and Langevin changes the initial presumption to now assume that the cohabitants' intent is to hold unequal shares proportionate to their contributions

¹³ <u>Langevin</u>, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 (1995).

¹⁴ <u>Langevin</u>, 111 Nev. at 1485, 907 P.2d at 984 (citing <u>Sack</u>, 110 Nev. at 210, 871 P.2d at 303) (internal quotation omitted)

¹⁵ Sack,110 Nev. at 213, 871 P.2d at 304

¹⁶ <u>Id.</u>, ("unequal contributions toward acquisition of property by cotenants who are not related and show no donative intent can rebut the presumption of equal shares"). Notably, <u>Langevin</u> cites <u>Sack</u> here, but the progeny develops its precedent and alters the initial presumption.

toward the purchase price. Following <u>Langevin</u>, courts must assume unmarried cohabitants intend to share real property in proportion with their contributions to the purchase price.

b. The Trial Court Improperly Stated the Law

In this case, the Trial Court utilized the initial presumption set forth in <u>Sack</u> rather than the initial presumption developed by its progeny, <u>Langevin</u>. The Trial Court stated, "fractional shares are presumed to be equal." The Trial Court also highlighted that unmarried parties' unequal contributions toward the purchase can rebut the initial presumption when the facts do not reflect donative intent. This is the formulation set forth in <u>Sack</u>. Following this Court's more recent precedent, courts now presume that unmarried cohabitants hold real property in proportion to their contribution to the acquisition of the property. Thus, the lower court flatly misstated the law.

¹⁷ Order at 5:15 (citing Sack, 110 Nev. 204, 213).

¹⁸ Order at AA0303:16-17@ Appellants Appendix Volume 3. (citing Sack, 110 Nev. 204, 213).

¹⁹ <u>Langevin</u>, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 ("where cotenants unequally share in the purchase price of property, the cotenants intended to share in proportion to the amount contributed to the purchase price").

c. At Trial, Plaintiff Shaughnan L. Hughes Failed to Evidence His Contributions and Failed to Evidence Donative Intent

Importantly, under <u>Langevin</u>, the law presumes cohabitants intend to own real property in shares proportionate to their contributions to the purchase price. Cohabitants' unequal contributions to the maintenance and improvements to the property are offset with deductions and accreditations from the proceeds of sale. Applying this presumption to the present case, Ms. Howard owns the whole property because she paid the whole purchase price. Even if, *argeundo*, <u>Sack</u> controls, the same conclusion follows with the <u>Sack</u> formulation. In either formulation, this case begins with the presumption that Ms. Howard owns the whole property.

At trial, plaintiff Shaughnan L. Hughes bore the burden of proving his contributions. The Trial Court concluded that Hughes failed to do so, stating

²⁰ The analysis starts with this presumption: "where cotenants unequally share in the purchase price of property, 'the cotenants intended to share in proportion to the amount contributed to the purchase price." <u>Langevin</u>, 111 Nev. at 1485, 907 P.2d at 984 (citing <u>Sack</u>, 110 Nev. at 210, 871 P.2d at 303).

²¹Langevin, 111 Nev. at 1485, 907 P.2d at 983 (citing <u>Sack</u>, 110 Nev. at 211, 871 P.2d at 303)

²² Under <u>Sack</u>, the initial presumption of equality can be rebutted when circumstances indicate otherwise. <u>Sack</u>, 110 Nev. at 213, 871 P.2d at 304 ("unequal contributions toward acquisition of property by cotenants who are not related and show no donative intent can rebut the presumption of equal shares"). The Trial Court found that Ms. Howard's unequal contribution to the purchase price rebutted the <u>Sack</u> presumption.

"neither party presented clear testimony or other evidence regarding their respective interests" and "neither party maintained sufficiently detailed records to confirm their exact contributions." Likewise, the Trial Court continued,

Neither party presented evidence regarding the payment of other regular expenses for the property. Notably, the parties have provided several receipts for their purchases, but they have limited documentation regarding the flow of money between themselves and between them and their parents.²⁴

Thus, Plaintiff Hughes failed to prove facts which could move the trial court's findings from the initial presumption. The facts and the Trial Court's conclusions must remain with the initial presumption – that the property is owned by the cohabitants in proportion to each cohabitant's contribution to the purchase price. Again, it bears worth repeating, Ms. Howard paid the entire purchase price, and therefore presumptively owns the whole property.

Notwithstanding the uncertain contributions and outright purchase by Ms. Howard, the Trial Court also found that Ms. Howard purchased the real property with a donative intent. Importantly, "donative intent" is removed from the analysis under the Court's most recent precedent, <u>Langevin</u>. Moreover, plaintiff Hughes failed to prove donative intent. The Trial Court stated,

Mr. Hughes testified that, at the time the deed was executed, he paid the transfer tax of Two Hundred and Thirty-Seven Dollars (\$237) after Ms. Howard told him that she had 'already paid her half' and that the

²³ Order at AA0308:15-19 @ Appellants Appendix Volume 3

²⁴ Order at p. AA0301:10-17.

transfer tax constituted his half. Mr. Hughes also testified that Ms. Howard joked with him, saying 'when was the last time you paid Two Hundred and Thirty-Seven Dollars for Thirty-Seven Thousand Dollar Coin.²⁵

Mr. Hughes' self-serving testimony regarding Ms. Howard's joke is wholly insufficient to find donative intent. First, a joke, by definition, is not to be taken seriously. Yet, the lower court seems to have taken the joke as dispositive. They say a lot of truth is said in jest. The truth is this joke evidences that Ms. Howard expected Mr. Hughes to contribute financially. His financial contribution thus far was the transfer tax, and Ms. Howard's joke highlighted the insufficiency of his contribution. She did not intend to gift half the property away. Instead, she expected Mr. Hughes to further contribute to his half financially.

Perhaps most importantly, donative intent does not add to the <u>Langevin</u> analysis. The facts are markedly similar in Sack, Langevin, and in the present case, but there is no mention of donative intent in Langevin.

Donative intent does not contribute to the analysis of the facts at hand. If the Trial Court rested its decision on a finding of donative intent, then the Trial Court made a mistake of law.

²⁵ Order at p. AA0305:9-16 (the joke references the parties' background as coin collectors)

VII. CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REQUESTED RELIEF

Elizabeth Howard respectfully request that this Court reverse the Trial Court's Order and enter Judgment in favor of Elizabeth Howard on all claims of Respondent Shaughnan Hughes.