# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Feb 09 2018 09:05 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ELIZABETH C. HOWARD,

Supreme Court Case No. 72685

District Court Case No. 15DC-10-0876

Appellant,

vs.

SHAUGHNAN L. HUGHES,

Respondent.

# **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

JUSTIN M. TOWNSEND, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 12293 ALLISON MacKENZIE, LTD. 402 North Division Street Carson City, NV 89703-4168 Telephone: (775) 687-0202 Facsimile: (775) 882-7918 jtownsend@allisonmackenzie.com

Attorneys for Respondent, SHAUGHNAN L. HUGHES

# NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

### A. NRS Chapter 39 Authorized HUGHES to seek partition.

The provisions of NRS Chapter 39 govern this case and specifically authorize any person holding property as a joint tenant to file an action for partition of real property. NRS Chapter 39 further directs the District Court to determine the rights of all parties claiming an interest in the property and then to either order a partition of the property or a sale and a division of the proceeds in accordance with the parties' rights.

# B. Distinctions between property held as joint tenants and property <u>held as tenants in common</u>.

HOWARD created a valid joint tenancy in the Property by executing and recording a quitclaim deed in favor of herself and HUGHES on June 11, 2012. In order for a valid joint tenancy to exist, the four common law unities of title must exist and they do exist here. Those unities are the unity of time, of title, of interest, and of possession. Therefore, HUGHES, as a joint tenant, had the right to sue for partition pursuant to the provisions of NRS Chapter 39.

# C. There are several rebuttable presumptions created by HOWARD's execution and recording of the June 11, 2012 quitclaim deed.

By executing and recording the quitclaim deed in favor of HUGHES and HOWARD, it is presumed that (a) HOWARD intended the natural consequences

of that action, (b) that she intended a gift of one-half the value of the Property, (c) that joint tenants own property in equal shares, and (d) that the Property was transferred with donative intent. She failed to rebut any of these presumptions.

# **D. HUGHES' contributions to the improvement of the Property is** <u>further evidence of his ownership interests</u>.

HUGHES quit his job and devoted substantially all of his time for a period of more than a year to cleaning the Property, installing fencing, moving a driveway, installing various accessory buildings, and assisting in the construction of an accessory dwelling for HOWARD's mother. HUGHES' daughter assisted him in this effort and his father contributed some of the finances to pay for the many improvements added to the Property. HUGHES and HOWARD each contributed financially to the materials as well. While HOWARD contributed more of the finances, HUGHES performed the bulk of the labor, which is evidence of their intent to jointly own the Property and reap the benefits thereof.

# E. HOWARD's argument that Langevin overruled Sack is false.

HOWARD asserted that *Sack v. Tomlin*, 110 Nev. 204, 871 P.2d 298 (1994) was overruled by *Langevin v. York*, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 (1995). There is nothing in *Langevin* to suggest that it has in any way overruled *Sack*. Instead, *Langevin* stands for the proposition that the holding in *Sack*, which dealt with partition of property held as tenants in common, applies to joint tenancy.

Moreover, HOWARD did not make this argument in the District Court and she is, therefore, precluded from making it here.

### VII.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Nevada Supreme Court "has stated on numerous occasions [that] findings of fact and conclusions of law, supported by substantial evidence, will not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." *Edwards Indus. v. DTE/BTE, Inc.*, 112 Nev. 1025, 1031, 923 P.2d 569, 573 (1996). In addition, "where the trial court, sitting without a jury, makes a determination predicated upon conflicting evidence, that determination will not be disturbed on appeal where supported by substantial evidence." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind can accept as sufficient to support a conclusion. *Dynamic Transit v. Trans Pac. Ventures*, 128 Nev. 755, 761, 291 P.3d 114, 118 (2012).

### VIII.

#### ARGUMENT

# A. NRS Chapter 39 Authorized HUGHES to seek partition of the Property and the District Court had the duty, in equity, to ascertain <u>and determine the rights of the parties</u>.

This case concerned only a single claim for relief – HUGHES' claim for partition of real property pursuant to NRS Chapter 39. NRS 39.010 provides that any person holding title to real property as joint tenant may bring an action for partition of said real property according to the rights of the persons holding title thereto. HUGHES and HOWARD hold title to the Property as joint tenants. RA Vol. 3 at 0651-0653.

The District Court was tasked with ascertaining and determining the shares or rights of the parties in the Property. NRS 39.010 and 39.080. If "partition cannot be made without great prejudice to the owners or if the owners consent to a sale," the Court may order a sale of the real property and a division of the proceeds in accordance with the parties' respective interests. NRS 39.010 and 39.120.

HUGHES suggested and the District Court agreed that partition of the Property could not be made without prejudice to the parties. AA Vol. 3 at 0310. The District Court concluded that the parties were entitled to an equal share of the Property and, therefore, ordered HOWARD, the only party then occupying the Property, to buy HUGHES out of his interest or, in the alternative, to work with HUGHES to sell the property and evenly divide the proceeds. AA Vol. 3 at 0310-0311.

The District Court's conclusions were based on a review of the totality of the evidence presented, including the quitclaim deed, conflicting testimony of the parties and other witnesses, and the documentary evidence presented at trial. AA Vol. 3 at 0310. The District Court's conclusions must be upheld because they are based on substantial evidence. Contrary to HOWARD's contention that there was

no evidence of HUGHES' contributions to the Property, there is substantial evidence of HUGHES' contributions to the Property, both in terms of financial contributions in the form of actual cash paid to third party laborers and payment of property taxes and homeowners insurance premiums and in his own significant labor in improving the Property. That evidence was uncontroverted by HOWARD.

# B. This Court may wish to clarify the presumptions attached to parties holding property as joint tenants as compared to those holding property as tenants in common.

In Nevada, two unmarried cohabitants owning real property can hold title to property in one of two ways: joint tenancy or as tenants in common. Here, the parties hold title to the Property as joint tenants, which may be created by deed and in accordance with the provisions of NRS 111.065, which specifically allows for a sole owner to transfer to herself and others real property in joint tenancy. By executing the June 11, 2012 Quitclaim Deed to herself and HUGHES, HOWARD created a valid joint tenancy.

The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes the statutory method of creating a joint tenancy, but also the common law aspects of joint tenancy. *Smolen for Smolen v. Smolen*, 114 Nev. 342, 344, 956 P.2d 128, 130 (1998). At common law, joint tenancy exists when the following four unities exist: (1) unity of time, (2) unity of title, (3) unity of interest, and (4) unity of possession. *Id.* Nevada

courts have not clearly expounded on the definitions of these interests as such, but outside jurisdictions lay out the definitions plainly.

Unity of time refers to the requirement that the joint tenants acquire title as joint tenants at the same time. *Edwin Smith, L.L.C. v. Synergy Operating, L.L.C.*, 285 P.3d 656, 662 (N.M. 2012). Unity of title means that joint tenants must acquire their interest by the same conveyance. *Id.* Here, HUGHES and HOWARD acquired title as joint tenants pursuant to a quitclaim deed dated July 11, 2012, thus satisfying the unities of time and title.

Unity of interest refers to the requirement that joint tenants' shares in the property are equal and that the duration of their estates are the same. *Id.* Nevada Courts have recognized the principle of joint tenants presumably holding equal shares. *See Gorden v. Gorden*, 93 Nev. 494, 569 P.2d 397 (1977). Further, in Nevada, placing of property by one party into joint tenancy with another party, as is the situation here, is presumed to be a gift of one-half the value of the property. *Id.* at 497.<sup>2</sup> These presumptions are overcome only by clear and convincing evidence to the contrary. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> HOWARD may argue that *Gorden* does not apply here as it involved married joint tenants in process of divorce. However, there is no authority to suggest that joint tenancy is altered in any way by marriage. Married cohabitants have the option of owning real property as community property, as joint tenants, or as tenants in common. Unmarried cohabitants have only the latter two options. There is nothing to suggest that married cohabitants holding title as joint tenants

Finally, unity of possession exists when each joint tenant has the right to possess the entire estate and also refers to the right of each joint tenant to an equal undivided share of the whole. *Edwin Smith*, 285 P.3d at 662. HUGHES and HOWARD each have the right to possession of the subject property, although HOWARD infringed on HUGHES' right to possession by locking him out.

At common law, a tenancy in common exists and a joint tenancy may be terminated when any of the four unities is not present. *See e.g.*, *Alexander v. Boyer*, 253 Md. 511, 519-20, 253 A.2d 359, 364 (1969). Each of the four unities is present in this case, thus reinforcing the joint tenancy interests of HUGHES and HOWARD.

### C. <u>HUGHES' view of applicable rebuttable presumptions</u>.

This is a case to which several rebuttable presumptions apply. First, as set forth above, when one party transfers real property to herself and another as joint tenants without consideration, there is a presumption that said transfer is a gift of one-half the value of the property. *Gorden*, 93 Nev. at 497. Further, this presumption is overcome only by clear and convincing proof. *Id.* This presumption is bolstered by the statutory presumption that "a person intends the ordinary consequences of that person's voluntary act." NRS 47.250.

have any additional rights relating to such ownership as unmarried cohabitants holding title as joint tenants.

Here, as noted above, HOWARD executed a quitclaim deed transferring title to herself and HUGHES as joint tenants. The ordinary consequence of that voluntary action is that she and HUGHES hold title to the Property as joint tenants. The presumption of joint tenancy is that they own the property in equal shares. The deed at issue here was duly recorded and, once admitted into evidence, proves the transfer and the burden is shifted to HOWARD to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that she did not intend a transfer of one-half the value of the Property. At trial, her only evidence on this point was that she did not recall executing the deed and the District Court properly found that such evidence was not credible.

Next, there is case law to suggest that principles from one of the seminal Nevada partition cases involving tenants in common are also applicable to cases involving joint tenants. That case is *Sack v. Tomlin*, 110 Nev. 204, 871 P.2d 298 (1994), in which the Nevada Supreme Court noted that fractional shares held by tenants in common are presumed to be equal shares unless circumstances indicate otherwise. In *Sack*, the Supreme Court found that "unequal contributions to the acquisition of property by tenants in common who are not related and show no donative intent can rebut the presumption of equal shares." *Id.* at 213. Unlike *Sack*, where the original owner deeded title to herself and another as tenants in common for the express purpose of seeking refinancing, the presumption here,

applying *Gorden*, is that HOWARD had donative intent. Therefore, even under *Sack*, the parties are presumed to hold equal shares and this presumption can only be overcome on showing clearly and convincingly that HOWARD had no donative intent.

Lastly, *Langevin v. York*, 111 Nev. 1481, 907 P.2d 981 (1995) stands for the proposition that the presumptions contained in *Sack* are generally applicable to joint tenancy. However, a recitation and exploration of those presumptions was not made in *Langevin* at least in part because it was clear that one joint tenant was entitled to the bulk of the ownership interests at issue therein. *Langevin* concerns four properties held by unmarried cohabitants, Norman and Laurie. *Langevin*, 111 Nev. at 1482. There are several distinguishing factors between *Langevin* and the matter at hand. First, Norman sold property he owned as his separate property in order that he could move in with Laurie. *Langevin*, 111 Nev. at 1482.

The Supreme Court noted that the nature of the relationship between Norman and Laurie was unclear – Norman was much older than Laurie and Laurie was a real estate agent. *Id.* After moving in together, Laurie found two parcels for which Norman paid the entire purchase price. Laurie received real estate commissions from these transactions from the sellers and Norman and Laurie were listed on the deed as joint tenants.  $Id.^3$ 

A third parcel was acquired jointly by the parties after a widow deeded it to them when she could no longer make payments under an encumbrance on the property. *Id.* Norman and Laurie "took over the payments" but Norman paid all of the closing costs associated with the acquisition of the property and subsequently made all of the monthly mortgage payments. *Id.* 

The property into which Norman moved to live with Laurie was owned by Laurie, her mother, and her stepfather. *Id.* Norman paid Laurie's mother and stepfather to transfer their interests to Laurie, who then transferred the property to herself and Norman as joint tenants. *Id.* Norman subsequently made nearly all of the mortgage payments associated with this property. *Id.* 

Thus, it is clear that all four properties were acquired by Norman and Laurie as joint tenants at the time of purchase and that the purchase prices, closing costs, and mortgage payments were made by Norman almost without exception. In contrast, title to the property at issue here was acquired in joint tenancy by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Counsel for HUGHES noted in the District Court and notes again here that under *Gorden* and NRS 47.250, there must be consequences for holding property as joint tenants. It is not clear why the Supreme Court, in *Langevin*, did not explore the presumptions attached to joint tenancy as set forth in *Gorden* and NRS 47.250. Similarly, it is not clear that the parties in *Langevin* raised those presumptions in their briefs. Nevertheless, those presumptions should certainly apply and, furthermore, the matter at hand is distinguishable from the facts set forth in *Langevin*.

HUGHES and HOWARD AFTER the purchase thereof by HOWARD. This is an important distinction because, as noted above, the law in Nevada is that when one party places property she owns into joint tenancy with another party, as is the situation here, such a transfer is presumed to be a gift of one-half the value of the property. *Gorden, supra*, 93 Nev. at 497.

Perhaps, the legal principle set out in *Gorden* does not apply to the situation laid out in *Langevin* because title was taken by the parties to that case as joint tenants at the time of purchase rather than after, as here. Thus, the Supreme Court applied the principles laid out in *Sack*, and concluded that Norman was entitled to share in proportion to his contributions to the acquisition of the property. *Langevin*, 111 Nev. at 1485-86.

The Supreme Court noted the major distinction between *Sack* and *Langevin* being that in *Sack* the parties held title as tenants in common and in *Langevin* the parties held title as joint tenants. *Id.* at 1485. The basis for applying the principles of *Sack* in spite of this distinction was that the Supreme Court in *Sack* had relied on a California decision in which the parties held title as joint tenants. *Id.*; *see also Kershman v. Kershman*, 192 Cal.App.2d 23 (1961).

However, the California Appellate Court in *Kershman* provides an additional distinction from the case at hand. That court recognized that property may be found to be held other than what is provided in the deed only where there is

an agreement, whether oral or verbal, as to the intended ownership thereof or where such understanding may be inferred from the conduct of the parties. 192 Cal.App.2d at 26 (citing *Thomasset v. Thomasset*, 122 Cal.App.2d 116, 133, 264, P.2d 626, 637 (1953)). In *Kershman*, the evidence showed that the parties had an agreement to share ownership of the property in proportion to their contributions until such time as the party who had contributed less than the other had reimbursed the other party.

Here, there is no agreement, written or verbal, between the parties that would indicate that the subject property should be held other than as joint tenants with presumed equal ownership interests. Moreover, the actions of the parties, in particular HUGHES' actions to devote substantially all of his time and energy towards improving the Property in addition to paying the real property taxes, would indicate that they intended joint and equal ownership of the Property.

Here, in sum there is a presumption that the parties own the Property in joint tenancy and with equal shares. There is a presumption that HOWARD intended the consequences of her execution of the quitclaim deed in favor of herself and HUGHES. There is a presumption that she had donative intent when she executed the quitclaim deed. HUGHES was not required to prove donative intent or that he owns the Property equally with HOWARD although the evidence presented at trial was more than enough to support the District Court's agreement that donative intent clearly existed. The burden shifted to HOWARD to overcome these presumptions by clear and convincing evidence and, again, her only offer of proof was that she did not recall executing the quitclaim deed and the District Court properly found that her testimony on that point was not credible.

The District Court applied these or similar rebuttable presumptions to the facts at issue here and properly found that the parties held title to the Property as joint tenants with equal shares. To the extent that the District Court's application of the rebuttable presumptions differs slightly from the application urged by HUGHES, HUGHES asserts that the District Court's conclusions were correct and that, either way, its findings should be upheld. *See Dynamic Transit*, 128 Nev. at fn. 3 (citing *Hotel Riviera, Inc. v. Torres*, 97 Nev. 399, 403, 632 P.2d 1155, 1158 (1981).

# D. Even if this Court concludes that HOWARD somehow overcame each of the applicable presumptions, HUGHES contributed substantially toward the improvement of the Property.

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